
 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Regular Board Meeting Agenda 

January 9, 2025 | 8:15am – 9:45am 
Lewis County JCC Education Center | Lowville, NY  

  
 
Mission: The mission of the County of Lewis IDA is to stabilize, strengthen and grow 
communities through strategic community partnerships, innovative incentive programs, 
responsible leverage of our financial resources and thoughtful policy development to advance 
economic growth and a brighter and more inclusive future for all.  
 

I. Call to Order        8:15AM 
    

II. Privilege of the Floor 
I. James Munn - Black River Valley Natural 

        
III. Minutes for December 5, 2024 Board Meeting  

 
IV. Financial Reports for November 2024 

       
V. Items for Approval       8:30AM 

 
I. LCIDA & Naturally Lewis Staff Services Agreement 

II. LCIDA Finance Committee Notes 
i. Snow Ridge Resort Installment Sale Agreement 

ii. Black River Valley Naturals Installment Sale deferral 
 

VI. IDA Report           
       

VII. Correspondence  
 

VIII. New Business        9:00AM 
 

I. Naturally Lewis Strategic Plan 
 

IX. Executive Session          
            

X. Adjournment        9:45AM 
 
Next Meeting: 
 
LCIDA Finance Committee - January 21, 2025 - 2:30pm - Naturally Lewis Office 
LCIDA Regular Board Meeting – February 6, 2025 – 8:15am – LC JCC Education Center 
(Boardroom) 
 
  



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

December 5, 2024 | 8:15am 
 

 

   
 

Board Members Present: Joe Lawrence, Gagan Singh, Jerry Haenlin, Herb Frost, McKenzie 
Lehman 
Board Members Absent: Darlene Rowsam, Jessica Moser 
Others Present: Brittany Davis, Cheyenne Steria, Kaylee Tabolt, Trish Michael (Virtual), 
Candace Randall (Campany, McArdle & Randall) 
 

I. Call to Order 
a. Chairman Joseph Lawrence called the meeting to order at 8:25am. 
b. Chairman Joseph Lawrence read the County of Lewis IDA Mission 

Statement. 
II. Minutes 

a. The previously distributed November 2024 Regular Board Meeting Minutes  
were reviewed by the Board.  

i. A motion to approve of the Regular Board Meeting Minutes was 
made by Jerry and seconded by Darlene Rowsam. All present were in 
favor and motion carried. 

III. Financial Reports 
a. Trish Michael discussed notables on the October 2024 LCIDA Financial 

Report, which includes the profit & loss statement and balance sheet. 
i. A motion to approve of the LCIDA Financial Reports was made by 

Jerry Haenlin and seconded by Gagan Singh. All present were in favor 
and motion carried. 

IV. Items for Approval 
a. LCIDA & Naturally Lewis, Inc. Staff Services Agreement 

i. Brittany Davis presented the previously distributed LCIDA & 
Naturally Lewis, Inc. Staff Services Agreement. Brittany Davis 
referenced the exit interview with the Comptroller’s Office, and the 
proposed structure of the Staff Services Agreement moving forward. 

ii. Brittany Davis noted the exit interview with the Comptroller’s Office, 
including: 

1. Legal language not aligning with execution of the transfer of 
funds, resulting in an overpayment from the County of Lewis 
IDA to Naturally Lewis, Inc.; the Comptroller’s Office 



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

December 5, 2024 | 8:15am 
 

 

   
 

recommends that the County of Lewis IDA recoups the 
overpayment in whichever way the Board sees fit. The verbiage 
of the proposed Staff Services Agreement, in Section 8: Service 
Fee, has been verbally approved by the Comptroller’s Office. 

2. Quarterly payments to Naturally Lewis, Inc., rather than a one-
time annual payment, to ensure that the County of Lewis IDA is 
funding work that has been completed and not assuming the 
risk of work not being completed after an up-front payment. 

3. The need for a wholly justifiable service fee. The Board 
discussed the estimated total fee broken up quarterly, and the 
note that anything beyond that number would be reconciled at 
the end of the Naturally Lewis, Inc. fiscal year. 

4. Reconciliation. Candace Randall suggests calling the 
reconciliation “retainer” a “lost time fee” as the wording of 
“retainer” suggests it is unearned money, whereas “lost time 
fee” provides an understanding that the work has been 
completed, and the money is earned. 

5. Service Provision & Office Access. The Board discussed the 
inability of the County of Lewis IDA to gift office supplies to 
Naturally Lewis, Inc.  

iii. Brittany Davis noted that final revisions on the County of Lewis IDA & 
Naturally Lewis, Inc. Staff Service Agreement will be completed for 
the January 2025 Regular Board Meeting. 

1. Action on this item is tabled until the January 2025 Regular 
Board Meeting. 

V. IDA Report 
a. Brittany Davis noted including a Partnership Visioning Session with Lewis 

County Legislators; the key outcomes of this session are Lewis County’s 
desire for streamlining the vision for economic development in our 
community and Joe Lawrence added that in addition to the potential positive 
direction of this partnership, there are obviously some people that desire to 
micromanage Naturally Lewis, Inc. And feel that Lewis County funding gives 
them the authority to do so. Gagan Singh questioned what these people 



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

December 5, 2024 | 8:15am 
 

 

   
 

want. Brittany Davis and Herb Frost communicated that Lewis County is 
looking for a business park and job creation. Jerry Haenlin questioned what 
happens if Lewis County pulls out as a partner of economic development in 
our community. Joe Lawrence responded that there a select individuals that 
will single-handedly be responsible for taking out the best thing to happen in 
advancing economic development in Lewis County, ever. Joe Lawrence 
advocated that this Board, as economic development and a partner of 
Naturally Lewis, Inc., that the County is threatened by the work of this 
organization and needs to be steadfast in communicating that a partnership 
is two ways. Joe Lawrence added that of what is feasible for Lewis County, 
this Board needs to understand that we are acting based on our vision, 
mission, and plan; the success of the strategy’s we have had and the 
progress we have made is based on the vision of the County of Lewis IDA. 
Herb Frost added that Lewis County is not looking to be Jefferson County and 
attracting large-scale manufacturing. Brittany Davis added that Naturally 
Lewis’ brand, which was developed in 2014, was set to be launched outside 
of our community, and it was seen as a shortfall because our community did 
not recognize that potential of itself. Joe Lawrence added that attracting a 
business with a 10-year tax incentive and no commitment to the community 
is not ideal; Herb Frost provided the example of the DANC site in Harrisville. 
Cheyenne Steria noted that the biggest thing we are contending with is our 
commitment to working in our vision; Herb Frost noted that Lewis County 
currently does not have a strategy, so they do not understand why we are 
committed to ours. Joe Lawrence added that this is the difference between 
putting out fires and preventing them; Lewis County has taken a step in the 
right direction with their planning but is not there entirely. Herb Frost 
commended the ability of our entire community to thrive on partnerships for 
rebooting from the Summer 2024 flooding. Gagan Singh questioned the lack 
of a strategic plan for Lewis County; Jerry Haenlin questioned the CEDS and 
Comprehensive Plan. Brittany Davis affirmed that Lewis County has a 
Comprehensive Plan from the late 2000s.  Staff indicated that they will 
continue to engage in communication with the County to keep the 
partnership strong, 



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Regular Board Meeting Minutes 

December 5, 2024 | 8:15am 
 

 

   
 

VI. New Business 
a. Keynote Sponsorship – Jeff Siegler, Founder of Revitalize, or Die 

i. Brittany Davis presented an opportunity for the LCIDA to be the main 
sponsor of a Keynote and Workshop Session at the 2025 Naturally 
Lewis Economic Development Conference.  Brittany noted the work 
of Jeff Siegler and his civic pride advocacy.  He promotes revitalizing 
from within and what it takes for a community to take pride in oneself 
to drive economic development.  The board reviewed his website and 
Facebook.   

1. A motion to approve of the $5,000 sponsorship for the keynote 
session at the Naturally Lewis Economic Development 
Conference was made by Gagan Singh and seconded by 
McKenzie Lehman. All present voted and motion carried. 

b. Property Updates 
i. Harrisville Bank Property 

1. Cheyenne Steria presented on the previously distributed 
Harrisville Bank Building Case Study. The building is 
currently listed at $95,000, appraised for $110,000 and 
assessed for $50,000. Cheyenne Steria noted the risk of losing 
about $10,000 on this property if it is not occupied but noted 
the importance of supporting the Harrisville business 
community. Gagan Singh questioned if taxes would be lowered 
if it is purchased for $50,000. 

a. A motion to approve submitting an offer for the 
purchase of the Former Harrisville Bank Building in 
the amount of up to $50,000, after a walkthrough of the 
property, was made by Herb Frost and seconded by 
Gagan Singh. All present voted in favor and motion 
carried. 

VII. Adjournment 
a. A motion to adjourn was made by Jerry Haenlin 9:43am and seconded by 

Gagan Singh. All present voted in favor and motion carried. 



Lewis County IDA
Expenses by Vendor Summary

November 2024

Accrual Basis  Friday, January 3, 2025 02:26 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

TOTAL

Odin Environmental. 2,590.00

TOTAL $2,590.00



Lewis County IDA
Balance Sheet

As of November 30, 2024

Accrual Basis  Friday, January 3, 2025 02:12 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

TOTAL

ASSETS

Current Assets

Bank Accounts

1010 Cash-Petty Cash 50.00

1020 Community Bank Checking  x1214 37,903.14

1030 Community Bank-MnyMkt 1,209,483.65

1030-1 NYCLASS 2,034,514.05

1060 Comm  Bk USDA Loan Fund x1511 98,431.63

1080 Comm Bk LC Micro Rev Loan x2054 68,678.40

Total Bank Accounts $3,449,060.87

Accounts Receivable $0.00

Other Current Assets $314,658.50

Total Current Assets $3,763,719.37

Fixed Assets $0.00

Other Assets $780,665.27

TOTAL ASSETS $4,544,384.64

LIABILITIES AND EQUITY

Liabilities $ -0.33

Equity $4,544,384.97

TOTAL LIABILITIES AND EQUITY $4,544,384.64



Lewis County IDA
Profit and Loss
November 2024

  Friday, January 3, 2025 02:22 PM GMT-05:00   1/1

TOTAL

Income

3022 Interest Income

3020 IDA - Bank Accounts Interest 9,208.78

3081 Loan Fund Interest Income 55.68

Total 3022 Interest Income 9,264.46

Total Income $9,264.46

GROSS PROFIT $9,264.46

Expenses

3550 7551 S. State Street Expenses 2,590.00

Total Expenses $2,590.00

NET OPERATING INCOME $6,674.46

Other Income $1,176.10

NET OTHER INCOME $1,176.10

NET INCOME $7,850.56



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Finance Committee Notes 

December 17, 2024 | Naturally Lewis Office 

 

   
 

Present: Gagan Singh, Joe Lawrence, Cheyenne Steria, Brittany Davis  

• Snow Ridge 
o Cheyenne Steria presented the Terms & Conditions for an installment sale 

for a new groomer for Snow Ridge.   
▪ The project includes the purchase of a used 2019 Pistin Bully 400 

ParkPro at $125,000 over 10 years at 5% interest.   
▪ Gagan Singh recommends that they name the LCIDA on the life 

insurance policy in case something were to happen.   
• There were discussion that the life insurance clause makes 

more sense for loans, rather than an installment sale.  
o The committee sees no issues with the installment sale application and 

recognizes the good relationship it has with Snow Ridge and previous 
installment sale arrangements, and recommends bringing the application in 
front of the whole board at the January board meeting.   

• Black River Valley Natural 
o BRVN is looking to refinance all of their debt into 1-3 payments, as they are 

experiencing cash flow issues.   They are requesting a deferment on his 
installment sale.  BRVN has made timely payments since the installment 
sale inception.  They have a balance of roughly $11,000, with a monthly 
payment of $234.  The committee discussed deferment contingent on 
submitting a loan application to get the assistance he needs.  

• MPI  
o Cheyenne walked the committee through updates on the McRez Meat 

Packing project.  He is currently waiting Site Plan Review approval by the 
Town of Lyonsdale Board, and a decision on that should be made at their 
January board meeting.  Once that is approved, we can continue discussions 
on financing opportunities, including the previously discussed Sales Tax 
Exemption.  

• Naturally Lewis Office Building 
o Cheyenne discussed that the IDA submitted an application towards the 

Vacant Property Revitalization Program to help fill the $400,000 gap, if 



 

 County of Lewis IDA 
Finance Committee Notes 

December 17, 2024 | Naturally Lewis Office 

 

   
 

awarded by the Village of Lowville DRI.  There was discussion on whether or 
not there would be bad optics on us applying.  There was consensus that the 
project itself fits nicely with the program, and that if there were a private 
developer doing the project, they too would be applying.  Since the IDA was 
not able to secure a developer and has agreed to take on the project 
themselves, staff are trying to fill the gap.  The committee left the decision up 
to the staff on whether or not to keep the application in the hopper through 
the LCDC but was in full support of the IDA submitting a project proposal.   

 

































IDA Incentive

PILOT
(future expansion)

LCDC Loan Fund

BRVN Stabilization Package:

Debt
Restructure

Investment Cashflow

Equipment
Installment Sale

(up to $200k)

Small Business Loan
(up to $50k)

Building Business Grant
(up to $50k, contingent

on award)

LCDC CEDP

IDA Incentive

The Naturally Lewis team proposes a stabilization package to Black

River Valley Naturals that includes LCIDA and LCDC tools used in concert.

This addresses consolidation and leveraging of outstanding debt and

assets under an LCDC loan and IDA installment sale, investment in

upgrades via an LCDC CEDP grant and retention or addition of jobs

through cashflow improvement with an IDA PILOT on future expansion.

DRAFT



 
STAFF SERVICES AGREEMENT 

 
 THIS STAFF SERVICES AGREEMENT- CY 2024 (this "Agreement"), 
dated as of January 1, 2024, is by and between NATURALLY LEWIS, INC., a 
New York not-for-profit corporation with its principal office at 7551 S. State Street, 
Lowville, NY ("NATURALLY LEWIS") and LEWIS COUNTY INDUSTRIAL 
DEVELOPMENT AGENCY, a New York public benefit corporation with its 
principal office at 7551 S. State Street Lowville, NY ("LCIDA").  NATURALLY 
LEWIS and LCIDA are sometimes referred to herein, individually, as a "Party" 
and, collectively, as the "Parties". 
 
 W I T N E S S E T H: 
 
 WHEREAS, NATURALLY LEWIS was formed and exists for the general 
purpose of promoting economic development primarily within the corporate limits 
of Lewis County, New York; and 
 
 WHEREAS, LCIDA was formed under Article 18 of the General Municipal 
Law as a public benefit corporation and exists for the general purpose of 
promoting economic development in Lewis County; and 
 
 WHEREAS, NATURALLY LEWIS employs administrative personnel and 
support staff (collectively, the "Staff") who maintain an expertise in various 
matters relating to economic development; and 
 
 WHEREAS, LCIDA desires to avail itself of the Staff's expertise, skills and 
services (collectively, the "Staff Services") upon and subject to the terms and 
conditions hereinafter set forth. 
 
 NOW, THEREFORE, in consideration of the mutual promises and 
undertakings herein contained, and other good and valuable consideration, the 
receipt and legal sufficiency of which are hereby acknowledged, the Parties 
hereto agree as follows: 
 

1.  DEFINITION OF NATURALLY LEWIS STAFF/STAFF SERVICES.  
The Staff Services to be performed by the Staff for and on behalf of LCIDA shall 
consist of general administrative and staff support services relating to economic 
development within Lewis County and shall include, but not necessarily be 
limited to, those Staff Services more particularly described on Exhibit A annexed 
hereto and made a part hereof.   The Staff shall perform the Staff Services at 
NATURALLY LEWIS's principal office or at such other locations as NATURALLY 
LEWIS deems necessary or desirable in order to discharge its obligations 
hereunder. 
 

 
Page 1 of 14 

 



 2.  ASSIGNMENT OF STAFF. NATURALLY LEWIS will assign various 
members of the Staff to perform Staff Services for and on behalf of LCIDA.  
Subject to LCIDA's approval, NATURALLY LEWIS shall designate staff members 
to perform and/or coordinate the Staff Services on behalf of the LCIDA. If LCIDA 
becomes dissatisfied with such designated staff members, NATURALLY LEWIS 
shall designate a replacement staff member acceptable to LCIDA in its sole 
discretion.  If NATURALLY LEWIS fails to designate staff members acceptable to 
LCIDA, LCIDA may terminate this Agreement upon 30 days written notice.  
 
 3.   NATURALLY LEWIS'S RESPONSIBILITIES.  NATURALLY LEWIS 
will recruit, interview, select, hire and assign those members of the Staff who, in 
NATURALLY LEWIS's judgment, are best qualified to perform all NATURALLY 
LEWIS work including, without limitation, the Staff Services.  As the Staff's 
employer, NATURALLY LEWIS will (a) maintain all necessary personnel and 
payroll records for the Staff, (b) calculate the Staff's wages and withhold taxes 
and other government-mandated charges, if any, (c) remit such taxes and 
charges to the appropriate government entity, (d) pay net wages and furnish 
benefits, if any, directly to the Staff, and (e) provide for such insurance coverage 
as may be required of it herein.  
 
 4.   STAFF ASSIGNED ARE EMPLOYEES TO NATURALLY LEWIS..  
Those members of the Staff assigned by NATURALLY LEWIS to provide Staff 
Services for and on behalf of LCIDA pursuant to this Agreement shall at all times 
be deemed employees of NATURALLY LEWIS.  The Staff shall not be deemed 
employees of LCIDA for any purpose and shall not be entitled to participate in 
any LCIDA employee benefit plans including pension, 401(k), profit sharing, 
retirement, deferred compensation, welfare, insurance, disability, bonus, vacation 
pay, severance pay, and other similar plans, programs and agreements, whether 
reduced to writing or not.   NATURALLY LEWIS will require all Staff members 
who are assigned to work on LCIDA projects and/or matters (collectively, the 
"LCIDA Projects/Matters") to acknowledge, in writing, the application of the terms 
of this Section.  NATURALLY LEWIS will endeavor to notify LCIDA prior to 
recruiting and/or hiring any person as a member of the Staff whom it anticipates 
will be assigned to work on LCIDA Projects/Matters. 
 
 5.   NATURALLY LEWIS REPRESENTATION: SATISFACTORY 
PERFORMANCE.  NATURALLY LEWIS represents that the members of the Staff 
whom it assigns to LCIDA Projects/Matters will satisfactorily perform the Staff 
Services.  If a particular member of the Staff does not perform such Staff 
Services to LCIDA’s satisfaction, NATURALLY LEWIS will arrange for Staff 
member(s) to be replaced by another Staff member within twenty (20) days after 
it receives notice from LCIDA that it is not satisfied with such Staff member's 
performance on LCIDA Projects/Matters.  In those instances where LCIDA is 
dissatisfied with a particular Staff member's performance on LCIDA 
Projects/Matters, NATURALLY LEWIS's replacement of such Staff member by 
another Staff member shall be LCIDA's sole and exclusive remedy. 

 
Page 2 of 14 

 



 
 6.   COMPLIANCE WITH LAWS.  In connection with its performance 
under this Agreement, NATURALLY LEWIS will comply with all laws, regulations, 
and orders, to the extent applicable to NATURALLY LEWIS including, but not 
limited to, New York State mandatory unemployment insurance and disability 
insurance, equal opportunity employment laws and regulations, the Fair Labor 
Standards Act, and the Immigration Reform and Control Act. 
 
 7.   LCIDA’s RESPONSIBILITIES.  LCIDA shall specify, in detail, to 
NATURALLY LEWIS the LCIDA Projects/Matters, which LCIDA desires to have 
the Staff perform for and on its behalf, and shall set specific objectives and goals 
in connection therewith.  NATURALLY LEWIS and LCIDA will agree upon 
objectives and goals.  LCIDA shall furnish NATURALLY LEWIS with such 
information, guidelines, reports and the like as may be reasonably necessary in 
order for NATURALLY LEWIS to direct the Staff to effect and carry out their 
functions and responsibilities in connection with such LCIDA Projects/Matters.  
Should the LCIDA require any further project assistance or additional services 
they reserve the right to request those from NATURALLY LEWIS at such time 
and modify this Agreement.  
 
 8.   SERVICE FEE As compensation for the Staff Services to be 
furnished to LCIDA by NATURALLY LEWIS hereunder during the Term, LCIDA 
shall pay a service fee (the "Service Fee") to NATURALLY LEWIS that equals   
90% of the annualized distribution of PILOT administration fees.  The  total 
Service Fee shall be paid to NATURALLY LEWIS within thirty (30) days after the 
date that NATURALLY LEWIS presents an invoice therefor to LCIDA   
NATURALLY LEWIS shall invoice LCIDA on January 1, 2024 for services 
provided, on a quarterly basis. The Service Fee shall be predetermined by the 
LCIDA on an annual basis, as shown in Exhibit B of this contract.   
 
 
 
 9.  LCIDA OPERATING EXPENSES.  The Service Fee does not 
include any LCIDA Operating Expenses, for example: , the premiums for LCIDA’s 
insurance coverage (i.e., liability, D&O, and property insurance), LCIDA’s annual 
audit fees, reimbursements of interest costs and other fees, LCIDA’s meeting 
expenses, collection costs on LCIDA loans, the costs of any annual or other 
contributions made by LCIDA to other organizations, the costs of special events 
attended or sponsored by LCIDA, NYS filing fees, safety deposit box fees, the 
cost of occupancy of space at 7551 S. State Street Lowville, NY 13367 by 
LCIDA, bank charges on LCIDA bank accounts, and any costs or expenses of an 
extraordinary nature.  
 
 
 

 
Page 3 of 14 

 



 10.  THIRD PARTY PROVIDER. Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary contained in this Agreement, NATURALLY LEWIS shall not engage any 
third-party service provider to perform Staff Services for or on behalf of LCIDA or 
incur any out-of-pocket expense for Staff Services in excess of $1000 (or 
aggregate out-of-pocket expenses in excess of $2,500) without LCIDA's prior 
consent.  . 
 
 11.   TERM.  The term of this Agreement shall commence on January 1, 
2024 and ending on December 31, 2024, inclusive (the "Term"), unless both 
Parties, prior to the completion of the Term of this Agreement, mutually agree, in 
writing, to extend, renew, or continue this Agreement beyond December 31, 
2024.  Both Parties reserve the right to negotiate terms for an extension, renewal 
or continuation of this Agreement, subject to the approval of each Party's 
governing body. Negotiations for an extension, renewal or continuation of this 
Agreement shall commence at least sixty (60) days prior to the end of the Term.  
Notwithstanding anything to the contrary herein contained, NATURALLY LEWIS 
reserves the right to terminate this Agreement immediately if LCIDA fails to pay 
the Service Fee within thirty (30) days of its due date.    
 
 12.  DOCUMENTATION OF TIME WORKED.  NATURALLY LEWIS 
shall arrange for the Staff to devote such time to LCIDA Projects/Matters as may 
be necessary or required, in NATURALLY LEWIS's judgment, to properly, 
promptly and completely perform such LCIDA Projects/Matters in a good and 
workmanlike manner.  NATURALLY LEWIS shall maintain monthly reports, and 
such other documentation as may be necessary to demonstrate the amount of 
time spent by the Staff on LCIDA Projects/Matters. 
 
 13. INDEMNIFICATION.  To the fullest extent permitted by applicable 
law, each Party hereto (each, individually, an "Indemnifying Party") shall 
indemnify the other Party hereto, and its contractors, officers, directors, servants, 
agents, representatives, and employees (each, individually, an "Indemnified 
Party" and, collectively, the "Indemnified Parties"), from and against any and all  
liabilities, damages, losses, costs, expenses (including, without limitation, any 
and all reasonable attorneys' fees and disbursements), causes of action, suits, 
claims, damages, penalties, obligations, demands or judgments of any nature, 
including, without limitation, for death, personal injury and property damage and  
claims brought by third parties for personal injury and/or property damage 
(collectively, "Damages") incurred by any Indemnified Party to the extent caused 
by (i) any breach of this Agreement by the Indemnifying Party, its contractors, 
officers, directors, members, servants, agents, representatives, or employees, or 
(iii) the negligence, unlawful act or omission, or intentional misconduct of the 
Indemnifying Party, its contractors, officers, directors, members, servants, 
agents, representatives, or employees, arising out of or in connection with this 
Agreement, or the Staff Services, except to the extent such Damages are directly 
caused by the breach of this Agreement, the negligence, unlawful act or 

 
Page 4 of 14 

 



omission, or intentional misconduct of the Indemnified Party or any person or 
entity for whom the Indemnified Party is legally responsible. 
 
 14. INSURANCE.  Each Party shall obtain and maintain during the 
Term, at its own cost and expense, insurance against such risks and for such 
amounts as are customarily insured against by businesses of like type and size, 
including, but not limited to, the following coverages with the following limits of 
coverage: 
 

(a) Commercial General Liability insurance with a combined 
single limit per occurrence in respect of bodily injury, 
disease, death and property damage of not less than 
$1,000,000, and an aggregate limitation of not less than 
$2,000,000, which insurance shall include contractual liability 
insurance. 

 
 
(b) Business automobile liability insurance with limits of 

insurance not less than $1,000,000 for each accident. 
 
(c) Such other policies of insurance as such Party shall be 

required by applicable law to obtain and provide. 
 
  In addition, NATURALLY LEWIS shall obtain and maintain (i) fidelity 
bond insurance or other insurance covering employee dishonesty with limits of 
coverage of not less than $1,000,000 and (ii) Workers’ Compensation and 
Employer’s Liability and State-mandated Disability Benefits Liability insurance 
covering all persons employed by NATURALLY LEWIS, with the limits of 
insurance required by law. 
 
  Each Party’s insurance shall be written by a company or companies 
licensed to do business in the State of New York and reasonably satisfactory to 
the other Party with a Best’s rating of A or better and financial size category of at 
least Class VII, or such higher standard as the other Party shall reasonably 
require.  Deductibles and terms and conditions of each Party’s insurance shall be 
subject to the other Party’s reasonable approval.  All policies and certificates of 
insurance shall state that the carrier cannot cancel or refuse to renew or create a 
material reduction in coverage without giving the other Party at least thirty (30) 
days’ prior written notice.  To the extent commercially available, each party’s 
liability insurance shall include contract liability coverage for the “indemnification” 
requirements set forth in Section 10 hereof. 
 
  Each Party’s Commercial General Liability insurance policy and 
Business automobile liability insurance policy shall name the other Party as an 
additional insured, on a primary and non-contributory basis, as its interests may 
appear (or loss payee in the case of property insurance).  On the date hereof, 

 
Page 5 of 14 

 



each Party shall deliver to the other Party certificate(s) of insurance evidencing 
the required insurance coverages hereunder. 
 
  Each Party shall attempt to cause its property insurance carrier to 
agree to a waiver of subrogation.  If any insurance policy cannot be obtained with 
a waiver of subrogation, or if one is obtainable only at additional cost, then the 
Party undertaking to obtain the insurance shall notify the other Party of such fact.  
The other Party shall have ten (10) business days after receipt of notice to (i) 
direct the Party undertaking to provide insurance to place it with a company 
reasonably satisfactory to the other Party that will issue it with a waiver of 
subrogation at no greater cost, or (ii) agree to pay the additional premium.  To the 
extent that the Parties obtain insurance with a waiver of subrogation, the Parties 
release each other from any claims for damages that are caused by or result 
from risks that such policies cover. 
 
  Each Party may provide any required insurance under a blanket 
policy. 
 
 15.   PERMITS AND LICENSES.  Each Party will maintain in effect 
during the Term of this Agreement any and all Federal, State, and/or local 
licenses and permits which may be required with respect to the respective 
business in which such Party is engaged. 
 
 16. THIRD PARTY BENEFICIARIES.  Except as may be otherwise 
provided herein, this Agreement is not intended to confer any rights, privileges or 
causes of action upon any third party. 
 
 17.   FORCE MAJEURE.  NATURALLY LEWIS will not be responsible 
for any failure or delay in providing the Staff Services to LCIDA if such failure or 
delay is due to labor disputes and strikes, fire, riot, war, terrorism, acts of God, or 
any other causes beyond the control of NATURALLY LEWIS. 
 
 18.  NOTICES.  All notices, consents, or other communications required 
or permitted from either Party to the other under this Agreement shall be in 
writing and shall be deemed received (i) upon actual receipt when personally 
delivered, (ii) upon acknowledgment of receipt if sent by facsimile, (iii) upon the 
expiration of the third business day after being deposited in the United States 
mails, postage prepaid, certified or registered mail, or (iv) upon the expiration of 
the first business day after being deposited with a nationally-recognized 
overnight courier service, pre-paid for next day delivery, addressed as follows: 
 
   
If to NATURALLY LEWIS:   Naturally Lewis 
      7551 S. State Street 
      Lowville, NY 13367 
      Attn: Brittany Davis 

 
Page 6 of 14 

 



      It’s Executive Director 
 
  If to LCIDA:   Lewis County Industrial Development  
       Agency 
      7551. S. State Street 
      Lowville, NY 13367 
      Attn: Joseph Lawrence 
       It’s Chairman 
 
 19.   GOVERNING LAW.  This Agreement will be governed by and 
construed in accordance with the law of the State of New York, without reference 
to its choice of law rules or principles. 
 
 20.   SECTION HEADINGS.  The Section headings of this Agreement 
are for the convenience of the Parties only and shall in no way alter, modify, 
amend, limit, or restrict the contractual obligations of the Parties hereunder. 
 
 21.   SEVERABILITY; WAIVER.  The invalidity or unenforceability of any 
provision of this Agreement shall not affect the validity or enforceability of any 
other provision of this Agreement.  Any delay or waiver by a Party to declare a 
breach or seek any remedy available to it under this Agreement or by law will not 
constitute a waiver as to any past or future breaches or remedies. 
 
 22.   ASSIGNMENT.  Neither NATURALLY LEWIS nor LCIDA may 
assign this Agreement without the prior written consent of the other Party. This 
Agreement shall be binding upon the Parties and their respective successors and 
permitted assigns. 
    
 23.   INDEPENDENT CONTRACTOR.  In its performance of this 
Agreement, NATURALLY LEWIS will at all times act in its own capacity and rights 
as an independent contractor, and nothing contained herein may be construed to 
make NATURALLY LEWIS an agent or partner of, or joint venturer with, LCIDA or 
make NATURALLY LEWIS and LCIDA joint employers of the Staff. 
 
 24. WAIVER OF JURY TRIAL.  Each Party hereby expressly waives 
any right to trial by jury for any action or proceeding brought under this 
Agreement and agrees that any action or proceeding hereunder shall be tried by 
a judge without a jury. 
 
 25. FURTHER ASSURANCES.  Each Party hereby agrees to take or 
cause to be taken such further actions, to execute, acknowledge, deliver and file, 
or cause to be executed, acknowledged, delivered and filed, such further 
documents and instruments, and to use its commercially reasonable efforts to 
obtain such consents, as may be necessary or as may be reasonably requested 
in order to fully effectuate the purposes, terms and conditions of this Agreement, 
whether at or after the execution of this Agreement. 

 
Page 7 of 14 

 



 
 26. LIMITATION OF LIABILITY.  Notwithstanding anything to the 
contrary in this Agreement, under no circumstance shall either Party have any 
liability whatsoever for consequential, incidental, special or punitive damages, 
howsoever claimed or arising and whether or not foreseeable. 
 
 27. MISCELLANEOUS.  The Parties acknowledge and agree that 
LCIDA is managed by LCIDA’s Members (the “LCIDA Members”) and, to the 
extent that the LCIDA Members delegated management duties to LCIDA’s 
officers.  The Parties further acknowledge that nothing contained in this 
Agreement shall confer on NATURALLY LEWIS any power or authority to 
manage LCIDA, which power and authority shall remain with the LCIDA 
Members and/or LCIDA’s officers at all times.  Without limiting the generality of 
the foregoing, the Parties acknowledge and agree that (a) the Staff Services shall 
be strictly administrative (rather than managerial) in nature, and (b) NATURALLY 
LEWIS shall have no authority to execute contracts or agreements on LCIDA’s 
behalf or otherwise bind LCIDA. 
 
  Nothing contained in this Agreement shall be deemed to make 
either Party an affiliate or sponsor of the other. 
 
  28.   ENTIRE AGREEMENT.  This Agreement (including Exhibit A and 
EXHIBIT B annexed hereto) contains the entire understanding and agreement 
between the Parties with respect to the subject matter covered, and all prior 
agreements, understanding, covenants, promises, warranties, and 
representations, oral or written, express or implied, not incorporated in this 
Agreement are superseded.  This Agreement may not be amended or 
supplemented in any way except in writing, dated and signed by authorized 
officers both parties. 
 

[REMAINDER OF PAGE INTENTIONALLY LEFT BLANK] 
 

 
Page 8 of 14 

 



 IN WITNESS WHEREOF, the parties have caused this Staff Services 
Agreement-CY 2024 to be signed by their respective duly authorized officers as 
of the day and year first written above. 
 
NATURALLY LEWIS:   NATURALLY LEWIS, INC.  
 
            
     By: 
___________________________________ 
      .      
      It’s Chairman 
 
 
 
LCIDA:    LEWIS COUNTY INDUSTRIAL   
      DEVELOPMENT AGENCY 
 
        
     By: 
___________________________________ 
      Joseph Lawrence 
      It’s Chairman    
    

 
Page 9 of 14 

 



EXHIBIT A 
Staff Services to be Provided 

 
 

1. Actively promote, attract, encourage and develop job and business opportunities 
through utilization of the IDA program benefits solely or in conjunction with other 
economic development and packaging of proposals to prospective clients and/or 
business, and negotiations of deals that are to be acted upon by Lewis County 
Industrial Development Agency (LCIDA). 
 

2. Comply with New York State requirements set forth for the governance and 
operation of the Lewis County Industrial Development Agency including all 
required reporting, monitoring, auditing. 
 

3. Market the programs and benefits of LCIDA through written materials, 
presentation, website, press releases, and meetings with potential clients. 
 
 

4. Provide all accounting and finance support for LCIDA, including administrative 
support for completion of necessary financial reports, coordinating the completion 
of financial audits, completes all other reports required by government funding 
agencies, and provides other financial information and analyses as requested by 
LCIDA. This includes the billing and remitting of PILOT payments which are due 
directly to the LCIDA.  
 

5. Assist LCIDA in the hiring of consultants, securing professional services, and in 
the development of requests for proposals and qualifications for feasibility 
studies, and securing A/E services for various projects. 
 

6. Provide necessary staff and administrative support to LCIDA, its Audit and 
Governance Committees, and other committees established by LCIDA.  
 

7. Provide such other services or staff support functions as may be requested by 
LCIDA from time to time. 
 

8. Participate in IDA training and information events such as annual Economic 
Development Council conferences, including following and monitoring any 
legislative trends and reports impacting IDAs. 
 

9. Maintain and update as necessary the application documents of the LCIDA that 
would be distributed to potential applicants to the LCIDA. 

10.  
11.  

 
12. Staff of Naturally Lewis Include:  

Brittany Davis – Executive Director 
Cheyenne Steria – Director of Development 
Jenna Lauraine – Programs & Partnerships Director 
Trish Michael – Finance & Operations Manager 
Kaylee Tabolt – Economic & Tourism Development Specialist  
 

Page 10 of 14 
 



Kristen Aucter – Director of Tourism   
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT B 

 
Page 11 of 14 

 



Service Fee 
 

Dates Contracted: January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 
 
Service Fee to be paid by LCIDA to Naturally Lewis, Inc. – Three hundred fifty 
thousand, one hundred thirty-five dollars.  
 
Justification for Service Fee:  90%  
 
End of Year Reconciliation: n administrativewererally Lewis.  
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

 
EXHIBIT C 

Service Fee 
 

Dates Contracted: January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 
 

 
Page 12 of 14 

 



Service Fee to be paid by LCIDA to Naturally Lewis, Inc. –  
 
Justification for Service Fee:  Compensation for time and resources dedicated 
to project pipeline development, including the promotion of the LCIDA Universal 
Tax Exemption Policy and related initiatives designed to stimulate and support 
business development efforts within Lewis County. 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 
 

EXHIBIT D 
Service Fee 

 

 
Page 13 of 14 

 



Dates Contracted: January 1, 2024 – December 31, 2024 
 
Service Fee to be paid by LCIDA to Naturally Lewis, Inc. –  
 
Justification for Service Fee:  Compensation for time and resources allocated 
to project management activities, including but not limited to LCIDA-led initiatives 
such as site development, property development, and related endeavors. 
 
End of Year Reconciliation: For a-ledthat were started in 2025, but not listed in 
this Exhibit at contract signing, an addendum will be created and documentation 
provided to provide compensation to Naturally Lewis for the time and resources 
that were dedicated to the project.  
 
   

 
Page 14 of 14 

 




























	5bd3c8c7-e97c-45a2-9e03-12ed9995dd54.pdf
	STAFF SERVICES AGREEMENT 


